5,26

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOREDA

1 1987

ALBERT HESTER,

Petitioner,

ERK, SUPREME COURT

٧.

CASE NOS. 70,349 and 70,350

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANN COCHEU ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

## ISSUE I

IS THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE STILL OPERATIVE FOR THE PURPOSE OF EXTENDING THE PERMISSIBLE MAXIMUM PENALTY AND IMPOSING A DEPARTURE SENTENCE BEYOND THE GUIDELINES?

This Court concluded that the habitual offender statute cannot be used as a basis for departure from a recommended guidelines sentence nor can it be utilized as an alternative to guidelines sentencing. In Whitehead v. State, 498 So.2d 863, 864-65 (Fla. 1986), this Court opined:

In determining the continued viability of the habitual offender statute in light of the subsequently enacted sentencing guidelines, we recognize that we must attempt to preserve both statutes by reconciling their provisions, if possible. See State v. Digman, 294 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1974). We find that we cannot do so. In order to retain the habitual offender statute, we would have to conclude that either the sentencing guidelines are not applicable to "statutory" habitual offenders (i.e., those defendants whom the state seeks to punish pursuant to the specific provisions of section 775.084, Florida Statutes) or, if applicable, that the habitual offender statute may be used in and of itself as a legitimate reason to depart from the quidelines. We can find no logical support for either proposition. The habitual offender statute was originally enacted as a scheme to impose an enhanced sanction upon those defendants who had committed other crimes in the past and posed a danger to society in the future thereby evincing an increased need for a lengthier term of incarceration.

\* \* \* \*

Section 921.011(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), requires that:

The guidelines <u>shall</u> be applied to <u>all</u> felonies, except capital felonies and life felonies, committed prior to

October 1, 1983, for which sentencing occurs after such date when the defendant affirmatively selects to be sentenced pursuant to the provisions of this act. [Emphasis added].

This language is explicit and unambiguous. The only exceptions to the sentencing guidelines scheme are capital felonies and offenses committed prior to October 1, 1983 in which the defendant does not affirmatively select to be sentenced under the guidelines. The statute does not exempt defendants sentenced under the habitual offender statute.

Although the legislature did not repeal section 775.084 when it adopted the guidelines, we believe the goals of that section are more than adequately met through application of the guidelines. The habitual offender statute provides an enhanced penalty based on consideration of a defendant's prior criminal record and a factual finding that the defendant poses a danger to society. The guidelines take into account of these considerations.

\* \* \* \*

In short, the objectives and considerations of the habitual offender statute are fully accommodated by the sentencing guidelines. In light of this, and the clear language of section 921.001(4)(a), we must conclude that section 775.084 cannot be considered as providing an exception for a guidelines sentence.

[Footnote omitted]

The Court further noted:

that the habitual offender statue was enacted when parole was available. Under the guidelines, however, prisoners are not eligible for release on parole. See section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes (1985). If we permitted application of the enhanced penalties available under the habitual offender statute to sentences without parole, "statutory" habitual offenders would receive sentences which are harsher than those the legislature originally envisioned in enacting

the habitual offender statute. Moreover, such sentences would be disproportionately harsh when compared to the sentences of other offenders who have committed similar crimes and have similar criminal records but were not subjected to habitual offender proceedings. Such a result would be contrary to the explicit purpose of the sentencing guidelines which is "to eliminate unwarranted variation in the sentencing process." See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(b).

<u>Id.</u> at 866.

Since Whitehead was issued, this Court has repeatedly reaffirmed its holding. E.q. Payne v. State, 498 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1986); Crapps v. State, 498 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1986); State v. Vicknair, 498 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1986); Ferguson v. State, 498 So.2d 867 (Fla. 1986); State v. Moultrie, 12 FLW 98 (Fla. February 5, 1987); State v. Teaque, 12 FLW 116 (Fla. February 26, 1987); Massard v. State, 12 FLW 150 (Fla. March 26, 1987).

Four of the five District Courts of Appeal have had no difficulty in understanding the plain meaning of Whitehead. "The habitual offender statute appears no longer available as a sentencing tool" and "cannot be preserved in the context of the sentencing scheme provided by the guidelines." <u>Duval v. State</u>, 500 So.2d 570, 571 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The statute was "effectively subsumed by the sentencing guidelines," <u>Smith v. State</u>, 12 FLW 710, 711 (Fla. 2d DCA March 3, 1987) and is "not an alternative to guidelines sentencing." <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 12 FLW 762 (Fla. 2d DCA March 13, 1987); <u>Harrelson v. State</u>, 499 So.2d 939 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 178, 179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The "legislature's adoption of the guidelines effectively superseded section 775.084," which now "cannot be

Considered as providing an exemption for a guidelines sentence."

Roseman v. State, 497 So.2d 986 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Accord e.q.

Randall v. State, 497 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Albritton

v. State, 497 So.2d 1329 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Canty v. State, 497

So.2d 1330 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Robinson v. State, 497 So.2d 1335

(Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Morganti v. State, 498 So.2d 557 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1986); Neeley v. State, 498 So.2d 690 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986);

Duques v. State, 499 So.2d 7 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Fleming v.

State, 499 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Gonzalez v. State, 499

So.2d 50 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Paschall v. State, 501 So.2d 1370

(Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

Initially the First District Court of Appeal acknowledged Whitehead.

The Florida Supreme Court has recently held that habitual offender status does not provide an exemption to guidelines sentencing nor is it an adequate reason to depart from the recommended sentence.

Hill v. State, 498 So.2d 544, 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Further, "the objectives and considerations of the habitual offender statute are fully accommodated by the sentencing guidelines." Strong v. State, 498 So.2d 653 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Accord Sharp v. State, 497 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Smith v. State, 499 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Watson v. State, 11 FLW 2504 (Fla. 1st DCA Dsc.2 1986); Bell v. State, 11 FLW 2554 (Fla. 1st DCA December 8, 1986) [on rehearing after per curiam affirmance of November 3, 1986]; Johnson v. State, 12 FLW 713 (Fla. 1st DCA March 5, 1987).

However the First District recently has sought to recede from the clear meaning of Whitehead. Compare Walker v. State, 499 So.2d 884, 886 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) ["the habitual offender statute does not provide an alternative to sentencing under the quidelines."] with Myers v. State, 499 So.2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) ["In our opinion, Whitehead does not repeal section 775.084."] Winters v. State, 500 So.2d 303, 305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) [affirming the increase of a third degree felony maximum sentence from five to ten years by use of the habitual offender determination and certifying the question: Is the habitual offender statute still an effective basis on which to exceed the statutory maximum as long as the sentence imposed does not exceed the quidelines recommendation?] and Holmes v. State, 502 So.2d 1302 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) [permitting the increase in maximum allowable sentence from five to ten years on a third degree felony due to a habitual offender finding]; and Avery v. State, 12 FLW 999 (Fla. 1st DCA April 10, 1987):

[B]ecause of the questionable vitality of the habitual offender statute in light of some of the language in Whitehead, we certify the following question as being one of great public importance: Does a trial court retain the authority to classify and sentence a defendant as a habitual offender,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Currently appellant is seeking discretionary review under Case No. 70,017.

This question is currently pending in this Court under Case No. 70,164.

Appellant has sought discretionary review under Case No. 70,269.

following the adoption of guidelines sentencing?]

Cf. Rasul v. State, 12 FLW 1065 (Fla. 2d DCA April 15, 1987) ["It now appears that the supreme court has considered and rejected the suggestion that the habitual offender act can be utilized [where] the permitted guidelines range exceeds the statutory maximum."]

Recently this Court has rejected suggestions it recede from Whitehead. In Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure re Sentencing Guidelines (Rules 3.701 and 3.788) 12 FLW 162, 164 (Fla. April 2, 1987), the Court declined "to revise committee note to rule 3.701(d)(11) as t relates to the Habitual Offender Act" which would revive the language in the committee note 3.701(d)(10) ["If the offender is sentenced under section 775.084 (habitual offender), the maximum allowable sentence is increased as provided by the operation of that statute"], specifically rejected by Whitehead.

Based on the foregoing cases and authority, petitioner concludes the certified question should be answered, "No." This Court should reverse petitioner's sentences and remand for resentencing under the guidelines process in which the statutory maximums are not extended by the habitual offender statute.

## ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING
PETITIONER AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER BECAUSE
THERE WERE NO SPECIFIC FACTUAL FINDINGS
PROVEN BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE
THAT THE EXTENDED SENTENCE WAS NECESSARY FOR
THE PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC AND EVEN IF
THAT STANDARD WERE MET, IT CONFLICTS WITH
THE HIGHER STANDARD FOR DEPARTURES SET
FORTH IN STATE V. MISCHLER

Assuming <u>arquendo</u>, that the Court answers the certified question in the affirmative, petitioner contends that the sentencing orders adjudging him to be a habitual offender failed to make the specific factual findings mandated by the statute, let alone being proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1985) authorizes extended terms of imprisonment for habitual felony offenders where "it is necessary for the protection of the public to sentence the defendant to an extended term." Pursuant to section 775.084(3)(d):

Each of the findings required as the basis for such sentence shall be found to exist by a preponderance of the evidence and shall be appealable to the extent normally applicable to similar findings.

Case law requires that the court find the extended sentence necessary for the protection of the public from further criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Once this Court acquires jurisdiction, it has the authority to consider the entire case on the merits. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982); <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977). <u>See also Bell v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 979, 980 (Fla. 1981); <u>Zirin v. Charles Pfizer and Co.</u>, 128 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1961).

activity and that this finding include the underlying facts and circumstances which the trial judge relied on in making that finding. E.g. Adams v. State, 376 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980). The trial judge must further "make specific findings of fact as to why it is necessary for the protection of the public to sentence appellant to an extended term." [Emphasis by the Court]. Holt v. State, 472 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Bare, conclusory findings are insufficient under section 775.084. Walker v. State, 465 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1985). There must be specific findings other than prior record or a general statement that the public must be protected. Bogan v. State, 489 So.2d 157 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Watson v. State, 492 So.2d 831 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Brown v. State, 497 So.2d 887 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Avery v. State, supra.

Petitioner argues that state offered no evidence on which the court could make a specific finding that the protection of the public required that he be sentenced to an enhanced penalty. Admittedly the state's evidence at the May 15, 1986, hearing did reveal that Hester had a prior record. Since he did not contest that the convictions were more than five years prior to this sentencing or that he received a pardon to this sentencing or that he received a pardon to this sentencing or that he received a pardon relief, those elements were established. However, to adjudge a person as a habitual felony offender, those four threshold criteria had to be established. See Mangram v. State, 392 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Petitioner contends that these enhanced sentences must be reversed because of failure to meet the second prong of section 775.084, the specifics - the whys to conclude it was necessary for the protection of the public.

At best the trial judge held that because Hester had a felony record he should be deemed an habitual offender. In reversing defendant's extended sentence, the Fourth District Court of Appeal stated:

It is quite clear that not every subsequent felony offender must automatically be sentenced as a recidivist under section 775.084, Florida Statutes 1975. A subsequent felony offender may be sentenced as a recidivist only if the court makes various findings in accordance with section 775.084. Such findings must be based upon some evidence.

Chukes v. State, 334 So.2d 289, 290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The court further noted that to justify an extended sentence, the trial judge must "make findings of fact supported by the record which justify such sentenced." Id. at 291.

Merely relying on petitioner's prior record, speculating that he will continue in criminal activity, does not seem to meet the 'specific' test. See Fleming v. State, 480 So.2d 715 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Weston v. State, 452 So.2d 95, 96 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), Accord Scott v. State, 446 So.2d 261 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Cavallaro v. State, 420 So.2d 927 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Watson v. State, supra; Williams v. State, 492 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

In Adams v. State, supra at 59, the First District held the trial court's findings were "insufficient on their fact to show

that the public requires Adams' extended imprisonment for its protection against this further criminal activity," despite being convicted of armed robbery in 1971, violating parole by possessing and using heroin, and being arrested for two other crimes. Similarly, in <u>Scott v. State</u>, 423 So.2d 986 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), the court held the state's findings that the enhanced sentence was "necessary for the protection of society" to be "woefully short of what is required by statute," and ordered resentencing. Accord, Mangram v. State, supra.

Unlike the situation in Myers v. State, supra, and Winters v. State, supra, the 22-27 year presumptive guidelines score did not exceed the statutory maximum. Instead the trial court used the habitual offender reclassification to exceed the guidelines and impose a life sentence without parole, the very danger noted in Whitehead v. State, supra at 866 as quoted in Issue I, supra at 8-9.

Because petitioner's sentences constitute a guidelines departure, the reasons used must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986). However, reasons supporting a habitual offender finding need only meet the "preponderance of the evidence." Section 775.084(3)(d), Florida Statutes (1985). The standards then for a guidelines departure and a habitual offender determination are irreconcilably inconsistent.

The sentencing guidelines commission recommended a retreat from both Whitehead v. State, supra, and State v. Mischler, supra. This Court specifically rejected the invitation to reduce

the level of proof for a departure to a "mere preponderance" and to include habitual offender as a departure reason. Florida

Rules of Criminal Procedure re Sentencing Guidelines (rules 3.701 and 3.988), supra at 163, 164. Clearly this Court did not intend for the habitual offender statute to survive the guidelines as a sentencing scheme.

Under section 921.011(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), the guidelines provide an omnibus sentencing scheme which applies to all felonies except capital offenses and precludes parole. There is no rational basis to allow reasons which ordinarily would not meet the required burden of proof under the guidelines to be used for habitualization. This creates an equal protection violation in that prisoners sentenced under the guidelines are afforded more protection in the form of a higher burden of proof than prisoners sentenced under the habitual offender statute. See U.S. Constitution, Amendment XIV; Florida Constitution, Article I, section 2.

Additionally, there is no parole from guidelines sentences, yet the habitual offender scheme contemplated the effect of parole practices on the sentences inmates actually served. Petitioner received a sentence extended by the habitual offender statute, in excess of the guidelines, but without the ameliorating effect of parole contemplated by the statute.

Petitioner submits that the habitual offender status in both cases should be vacated and the causes remanded for resentencing under the guidelines.

## ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENT AT THE TIME OF DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES THAT IT WOULD DEPART FOR ANY ONE OF THE REASONS GIVEN, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER BOTH VALID AND INVALID REASONS ARE FOUND ON REVIEW, DOES NOT SATISFY THE STANDARD IN ALBRITTON V. STATE.

The First District disapproved of five of the six reasons given by the trial judge for departure, upholding only "escalating pattern of criminality." Since the trial judge included the language:

This Court finds that any one of the reasons set forth well constitutes clear and convincing reasons for exceeding the recommended quidelines sentence[.,.]

(R-98, R-II-131)

and further stated orally

I would have a difficult time sleeping and feeling [sic] I would be derelict in my duties to the people of Duval County and the State of Florida to allow Mr. Hester to be on the streets for any length of time whatsoever. . . he constitutes a clear and present danger to everybody on the streets as far as I'm concerned[.,.].

[T-314-15]

the District Court was "persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that the trial court would impose the same sentence if any of the above six reasons were found to be valid." Hester v. State, 12 FLW at 742. The Court cited to Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This statement, however referred to the habitual offender determination, not the quidelines departure.

(Fla. 1985), presumably applying the test established by this Court:

[W]hen a departure sentence is grounded on both valid and invalid reasons . . . the sentence should be reversed and the case remanded for resentencing unless the state is able to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the absence of the invalid reasons would not have affected the departure sentence.

<u>Id.</u> at 160.

Subsequent to <u>Albritton</u>, this court held in <u>State</u>

<u>v.Mischler</u>, <u>supra</u>, that the inclusion of one of three prohibited categories for departure would cause reversible error:

"A reason which is prohibited by the guidelines themselves can never be used to
justify departure. <u>Santiago v. State</u>, 478
So.2d (Fla. 1985). Factors already taken
into account in calculating the guidelines
score can never support departure.

<u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985).
A court cannot use an inherent component of
the crime in question to justify departure."

Id. at 525.

In <u>Rousseau v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), the First District Court of Appeal held that <u>State v. Mischler</u>, applied together with <u>Albritton</u>, called for an automatic reversal if one of the prohibited categories was involved. Since the habitual offender status was disapproved as a <u>Hendrix</u> violation,

And the State is presently pending in this Court, Case No. 68,973, sub nom. State v. Rousseau.

Whitehead v. State, supra at 866, petitioner argues that his sentences must be reversed for resentencing.

Petitioner acknowledges that his Court has approved "escalating pattern of criminality" as a valid departure reasons. See Keys v. State, 500 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1986). However, petitioner believes that such a reason does violate Hendrix v. State, supra, prohibiting use of prior criminal records factored into guidelines calculations as reasons to depart. Such "double dipping" was disallowed in habitual offender determination. Whitehead v. State, supra at 866. It should similarly be inappropriate for "escalating pattern of criminality."

Assuming arguendo, that such a reason will be upheld in the instant cases, petitioner contends the District Court misapplied Albritton v. State, supra, and State v. Mischler, supra. The "boiler plate" language that the trial court would depart for any one reason has been disapproved by this Court, and should be disallowed sub judice.

As part of the package of revisions to the guidelines rules submitted by the guidelines commission to this Court in 1985, to be ratified by the legislature in 1986, was the following:

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