IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

70,349 and

70,350

ALBERT HESTER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

NORMA J. MUNGENAST ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

the public defenders are in agreement with the State and the First District's opinions in Myers, supra; Winters, supra; and Holmes, supra. While the facts sub judice are different from the Myers, Winters and Holmes scenario, the State still submits use of the habitual offender statute was proper in this context.

In the instant case, the guidelines range for all seven felonies was 22-27 years. Petitioner was convicted of a total of five first degree felonies, one second degree felony and one third degree felony. Were it not for Petitioner's habitual offender status, the court could only have imposed a maximum of thirty years on the five first degree felonies, a maximum of fifteen years on the second degree felony and a maximum of five years on the third degree felony. §§ 775.082(3)(b), (c) and (d). Once concluding Petitioner was an habitual offender, Committee Note (d) (10) triggered in and the maximum allowable sentence was to be increased as provided by operation of section 775.084(4). With respect to the five first degree felonies, the court was required by statute to sentence Petitioner to five life sentences. Section 775.084 (4)(a)1 provides that the court shall sentence a habitual offender in the case of a felony of the first degree for life. See, Walker v. State, 473 So. 2d 694, 698 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) wherein the First District correctly held that a sentence imposed pursuant to 775.084 (4)(a)1, where the defendant has been convicted of a first degree felony, is a "mandatory sentence."

Since the five life sentences imposed were mandatory sentences, Rule 3.701(d)(9) applied and not Rule 3.701(d)(11), the latter being

the rule requiring clear and convincing reasons for departure. Rule 3.701(d)(9) provides:

For those offenses having a mandatory penalty, a scoresheet should be completed and the guidelines sentence calculated. If the recommended sentence is less than the mandatory penalty, the mandatory sentence takes precedence. If the guidelines sentence exceeds the mandatory sentence, the guideline sentence should be imposed.

Under the aforementioned provision of the sentencing guidelines, because the mandatory sentence of life exceeds the recommended sentence of 22-27 years, the mandatory sentence of life had to be imposed. Consequently, no reasons for the "departure" from the recommended sentence were required. Even if the mandatory provision did not apply, the State submits Petitioner's escalating pattern of criminal activity provided a clear and convincing reason to depart from the recommended range and impose life sentences. (See Issue III, infra)

Section 775.084(4)(a)2 permitted the trial judge to impose the thirty year sentence on the second degree felony. Unlike subsection (4)(a)1, subsection 4(a)2 does not mandate a thirty year sentence; it merely permits a judge to impose a sentence "for a term of years not exceeding 30." Sub judice, the trial judge imposed the non-mandatory thirty year sentence which constituted a three year departure from the recommended range. In this situation, Rule 3.701(d)(11) did apply and the court properly relied upon Petitioner's escalating pattern of criminal activity to depart from the guideline range. (See Issue III, infra).

Finally, section 775.084(4)(a)3 permitted the trial judge to impose the ten year sentence on the third degree felony. Again, this

section was not mandatory; rather it allowed the judge to impose a sentence "for a term of years not exceeding 10." The imposition of this ten year sentence did not constitute a departure from the 22-27 recommended guideline range, and therefore, did not require departure reasons.

In sum, the State submits the Habitual Offender Act was intended to coexist with the sentencing guidelines and the recent House and Senate Bills reflect that original intention. In the case sub judice the 30 year sentences which were extended to life sentences pursuant to the habitual offender statute were imposed pursuant to Rule 3.701 (d)(9), dealing with mandatory sentences. The 15 year sentence which was extended to thirty years constituted a departure sentence and was supported by clear and convincing reasons. (Issue III, infra) Finally, the five year sentence which was extended to ten years did not constitute a departure, and therefore, did not need reasons for departure. As long as the thirty year departure sentence was supported by reasons other than Petitioner's habitual offender status and as long as the Albritton standard was met, Whitehead was not violated. This Court should affirm Petitioner's sentences and in doing so confirm the viability of the Habitual Offender Act as a statute consistent with and coexistant with the Sentencing Guidelines Act.

#### ISSUE II (Restated)

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO REVIEW THE TRIAL JUDGE'S DETERMINATION THAT PETITIONER QUALIFIED AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER SINCE THAT ISSUE IS SEPARATE AND COLLATERAL TO THE CERTIFIED QUESTION ON REVIEW; MOREOVER, PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT THAT THE STANDARD OF EVIDENCE FOR THE HABITUAL OFFENDER FINDING CONFLICTS WITH THE MISCHLER STANDARD OF EVIDENCE FOR DEPARTURE REASONS IS NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW IN THIS COURT.

In Issue II, Petitioner first contends that the State offered no evidence other than Petitioner's prior record on which the court could make a specific finding that the protection of the public required that Petitioner be sentenced to an extended term of imprisonment. The State submits that by raising this issue counsel for Petitioner is attempting to bootstrap an issue that is separate and collateral to the certified question on review and which could never come before this Court were it not for the certification of Issue I.

Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution provides that the Supreme Court:

May review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question by it to be of great public importance. . .

This Court has construed this provision to mean "once the case has been accepted for review . . ., this Court may review any issue arising in the case that has been properly preserved and properly presented." Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32,34

(Fla.1985). In so concluding, however, this Court in the past has not been unmindful of the need to avoid the usurpation of the district courts' constitutional function as courts of final jurisdiction. Specifically in Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla.1983), this Court stated:

While we have the authority to entertain issues ancillary to those in a certified case, Bell v. State, 394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981), we recognize the function of district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority unless those issues affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified question.

Id. at 1130.

The reason why the district courts of appeal were ever created was due to the great volume of cases reaching this

Court and the consequent delay it caused in the administration of justice. As this Court stated in Ansin v. Thurston, 101

So.2d 808,810 (Fla.1958) and reiterated in Jenkins v. State,

385 So.2d 1356,1357 (Fla.1980), "[i]t was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts."

The State respectfully submits that in the case <u>sub judice</u> counsel for Petitioner is attempting to utilize the district court as an intermediate court by raising issues in this Court far outside the scope of what the district court certified as a question of great public importance. Due to the voluminous number of sentencing guidelines cases clogging the district courts as well as this Court, the State strongly urges this

Court to exercise its jurisdictional discretion narrowly in

this case as well as in all sentencing guidelines cases and to decline to review an issue that does not have a jurisdictional basis standing by itself. To routinely accept review of issues such as the one <u>sub judice</u> will create the problem former Justice Drew foresaw as early as 1958, many years before the sentencing guidelines appeals ever began to congest the court dockets:

To fail to recognize that [district courts] are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

Ansin, supra at 810, quoted in Jenkins, supra at 1358. (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the State submits this Court should respect the First District's conclusion in its capacity as a court of final jurisdiction and decline to consider Petitioner's contention that the trial court erred in concluding there was sufficient evidence in which it could make a specific finding that the protection of the public required that Petitioner be sentenced to an enhanced penalty. In the event this Court decides to entertain this issue, however, the State makes the following argument in support of the trial court's findings.

 was necessary for the protection of the public. Petitioner also claims such a finding could not have been made from the evidence that was introduced by the State at the habitual offender hearing. The State disagrees and responds that not only did the sentencing judge have adequate evidence from which he could make the statutory finding as required by §775.084, Fla.Stat., but indeed, the judge did make the specific finding as to why the enhanced sentence was necessary for the protection of the public.

Concerning the evidence relied upon by the sentencing judge, the record on appeal does not support Petitioner's contention that the only evidence the trial judge had before him was the State's evidence introduced at the May 15, 1986, hearing and the information contained in the PSI report. Even a cursory examination of the record would reveal that the trial judge relied and considered more than that. During the May habitual offender hearing the record reflects that the State requested the court to consider the evidence it had introduced at Petitioner's jury trials (which verdicts placed him before the sentencing court) when determining whether the extended sentence was necessary for the protection of the public, and in fact, the court did exactly that (T I 304-305, 308; T II 260-261,264). accept Petitioner's argument, which obviously insinuates that the State was required to start anew at the habitual offender hearing, and show that Petitioner was a danger to society because of the violent nature of the crimes he committed would have not only turned such a hearing into a mini-trial but indeed

it would have amounted to a pure and simple waste of everyone's time, particularly when as here, Petitioner and his counsel were present at the trial proceedings and were therefore afforded ample opportunity to confront the State witnesses, and both the presiding judge at the trials and the sentencing judge were one and the same.

In regard to the trial judge's finding that the enhanced sentence was warranted for the protection of the public, the record indicates with clarity the underlying facts that prompted the judge to so conclude. The judge's comments at the sentencing hearing appear on pages four and five of this brief and a review of his comments indicate that this was not a case where the trial judge concluded, as Petitioner strongly claims, that because he "had a felony record he should be deemed an habitual offender." (Petitioner's Brief at 15). This was a case where the trial judge well understood his duties under \$775.084 and as such, went beyond Petitioner's felony record to make the specific findings that because of Petitioner's "obvious willingness and quickness with the use of firearms against other people," "he constituted a clear and present danger to everybody on the street." Clearly such specific findings are sufficient on their face to have induced the trial judge to find that the extended term was necessary in the instant case. v. State, 452 So.2d 95,96 (Fla.1st DCA 1984). Indeed , the First District held so in the following portion of its opinion in the above-styled causes:

The trial court stated that appellant had demonstrated a willingness and quickness to use firearms against other people. The court predicated its finding on the fact that on two separate occasions, appellant had robbed at gunpoint several victims, two of whom he had seriously wounded, apparently without provocation. The record supports the trial court's finding, notwithstanding that in the second robbery, when appellant shot the unarmed victim, the victim was going for appellant's gun. The two robberies occurred within five weeks of each other. From the above facts, it is clear that the trial court stated sufficient underlying facts to support its determination that an extended prison term was necessary for the protection of the public. Section 775.084(3), Florida Statutes (1985); Winters v. State, 500 So.2d 303 (Fla.1st DCA 1986).

<u>Hester v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1342,1344 (Fla.1st DCA 1987). <u>See</u> also, <u>Hester v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1346 (Fla.1st DCA 1987).

Given the fact that the transcript of the sentencing proceeding reflects the underlying facts and circumstances that prompted the trial judge to find that the extended sentence was necessary for the protection of the public, Petitioner's sentence should be affirmed. See Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla.1980); Mangram v. State, 392 So.2d 596 (Fla.1st DCA 1981); Adams v. State, 376 So.2d 47 (Fla.1st DCA 1979).

Petitioner next argues even if the evidence was sufficient, the facts supporting a habitual offender determination should be proven <u>not</u> by a preponderance of the evidence, but by the more stringent guidelines standard, proof beyond a reasonable doubt. [Petitioner's Brief at 16-17, citing to <u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla.1986)]. Petitioner concludes the facts did not meet the <u>Mischler</u> standard of proof.

When this Court stated in <u>Tillman</u>, <u>supra</u>, that it could review any issue in a case once accepted for review, it expressly <u>excluded</u> issues that were not properly preserved and properly presented. <u>Id</u>. at 34-35. Citing to the familiar case of <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla.1982), this Court reiterated in <u>Tillman</u> that

[i]n order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved.

Id. at 35. Petitioner's arguments on pages sixteen and seventeen of his brief were never presented to the trial court and never addressed by the First District and, therefore, should not be considered by this Court. Moreover, even if a "reasonable doubt" standard of proof applied to habitual offender determinations, the State submits the trial judge's reliance on facts that ultimately resulted in Petitioner's seven felony convictions were facts proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ISSUE III

(RESTATED) THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO REVIEW THE ISSUE OF WHETHER A TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENT THAT IT WOULD DEPART FOR ANY ONE OF THE DEPARTURE REASONS GIVEN SATISFIES THE ALBRITTON STANDARD, INASMUCH AS THIS ISSUE IS COLLATERAL AND SEPARATE TO THE CERTIFIED QUESTION ON REVIEW.

Counsel for Petitioner is again bootstrapping an issue that the First District Court of Appeal did not certify to this Court and which does not relate in any way whatsoever to the question the First District did certify, i.e., Issue I. As previously noted by the State in Issue II, supra, this Court does have the authority to review any issue once a case is properly before it; however, this Court has in earlier cases pledged to recognize the function of district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and to refrain from using that authority unless the issues affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified question. Trushin, supra See also Lee v. State, 12 F.L.W. 80, 82 n.1 (Fla. January 29, at 1130. 1987). Whether the alleged boiler plate" language used by trial judges in their written orders satisfies Albritton has no impact on the outcome of this case. Accordingly, the State urges this Court to respect the First District's conclusion in its capacity as a court of final jurisdiction and decline to consider this issue.

In the event this Court addresses this third issue, the State makes the following arguments in support of the First District's affirmance of Petitioner's departure sentence.

The First District approved Petitioner's "escalating pattern of criminal activity" as a valid departure reason, and that reason has

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